RECEIVED
03-11-2020
CLERK OF COURT OF APPEA
OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2019AP1989-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

OMAR S. CORIA-GRANADOS,

Defendant-Respondent.

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING THE STATE'S MOTION TO ADMIT EVIDENCE ENTERED IN THE DANE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE ELLEN K. BERZ, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

KATHERINE D. LLOYD Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1041801

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Whether the circuit court erroneously exercised 1. its discretion by denying the State's motion to admit evidence that Omar Coria-Granados engaged in other bad acts with the victims.

This Court should say yes.

Whether the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion by denying the State's motion to admit the recorded interview of the child victim under Wis. Stat. § 908.08(3)(a)2.

This Court should say yes.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND **PUBLICATION**

The State does not request oral argument publication.

INTRODUCTION

This case concerns an all-too-familiar fact pattern. Two sisters accused a long-time family friend of grooming behavior and sexual assault. Before trial, the State sought to introduce Coria-Granados's other acts—including his other sexual assaults of the victims—to show that the behavior underlying the charges was not a mistake. accident. misunderstanding. The State also moved to introduce an audiovisual recording of the then-13-year-old child victim under the statute that created a hearsay exception for the admission of children's statements.

The circuit court denied both of the State's requests, crippling its effort to try its case. Ignoring the applicable standards to admit evidence in cases of child sexual assault, the circuit court said that the other acts were too prejudicial to Coria-Granados because they were not sufficiently corroborated. But this is an error of law: a conclusion that the evidence was not sufficiently corroborated is a conclusion that the evidence was not relevant—not a conclusion that Coria-Granados proved undue prejudice.

Moreover, the court failed to properly apply Wis. Stat. § 908.08 to the State's motion to admit the child's recorded statement. In so doing, the court ignored the legislative directive that children's statements must be admitted into evidence with more ease.

Although the admission of evidence is a matter of the trial court's discretion, that discretion is not unfettered. Because the trial court here erroneously exercised its discretion, this Court should reverse.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2018, sisters Evelyn and Michaela met with Safe Harbor forensic interviewer Jennifer Ginsburg to report how their long-time family friend Coria-Granados had touched them multiple times and made them feel uncomfortable from about 2015 through 2017. (R. 1, A-App. 102–08.) The interviews were recorded. (R. 35.)

Evelyn, who was born in July 2006, told Ginsburg about three separate occasions when Coria-Granados touched her inappropriately. (R. 1:1–4, A-App. 102–05.) Evelyn said that in the summer of 2017, Coria-Granados and his wife took her to Milwaukee, stopping in Johnson Creek at the Old Navy store along the way. (R. 1:2, A-App. 103.) Evelyn said that Coria-Granados and his wife bought Evelyn two pairs of shorts and two shirts, and Evelyn changed into her new clothes before they continued their drive. (R. 1:2, A-App. 103.) Once in Milwaukee, Coria-Granados dropped his wife off at a

2

¹ To comply with Wis. Stat. § 809.86(4), the State uses pseudonyms in place of the victims' names.

 $^{^2}$ Only the recording of Evelyn, the younger child, is in the record. (R. 35.)

Case 2019AP001989 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-11-2020 Page 8 of 47

hair salon and drove Evelyn to a parking spot where they could not be seen. (R. 1:2, A-App. 103.)

Coria-Granados talked to Evelyn, asking her about school. (R. 1:2, A-App. 103.) Evelyn told Coria-Granados that she was being bullied and she was sad. (R. 1:2; 35:13:34–13:54; A-App. 103.) Coria-Granados then suddenly put his hand under her shirt and squeezed her breast. (R. 1:2, A-App.) Coria-Granados also pulled his penis out of his pants and insisted that Evelyn look at it. (R. 1:2, A-App. 103.) Coria-Granados told Evelyn that if she told her parents or his wife what he had done, he would tell her parents that she used Snapchat, which her parents had forbidden. (R. 1:2, A-App. 103.)

Evelyn described two more instances of inappropriate touching, both occurring at Coria-Granados's home. (R. 1:3–4, A-App. 104–05.) She said that in the first, she was sitting on a couch when Coria-Granados sat down next to her and kissed her on the lips. (R. 1:3, A-App. 104.) In the second, she and Coria-Granados were alone in his living room while her father was in the bathroom. (R. 1:3, A-App. 104.) While Coria-Granados was talking to Evelyn about school, he reached his hand into her shorts to try to touch her private area. (R. 1:3–4, A-App. 104–05.) Evelyn said she grabbed his hand and told him to stop, which seemed to anger Coria-Granados. (R. 1:4, A-App. 105.)

Evelyn said that she was scared to tell anyone about Coria-Granados's actions. (R. 1:4, A-App. 105.) She described how it affected her physically—she had stomachaches, bad dreams, and had wet the bed. (R. 1:4, A-App. 105.) She explained that she had revealed the assaults to her mom when the two of them were watching a cartoon about protecting children. (R. 1:4, A-App. 105.)

Michaela, who was born in December 2000, told Ginsburg that in 2015, Coria-Granados began sending her Case 2019AP001989 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-11-2020 Page 9 of 47

sexually explicit text messages. (R. 1:1, 4, A-App. 102, 105.) He told her that he watched pornography, masturbated, and asked her whether she had had sex. (R. 1:6, A-App. 107.)

Michaela also described four times that Coria-Granados's in-person behavior made her uncomfortable. (R. 1:4–6, A-App. 105–07.) In the first, she and Evelyn were in a car with Coria-Granados, who was driving them to his home after a soccer game. (R. 1:4–5, A-App. 105–06.) While driving, Coria-Granados started to talk to Michaela about sex. (R. 1:4–5, A-App. 105–06.) He asked her if she wanted to touch his penis. (R. 1:4, A-App. 105.) He also put his hand on her thigh and moved it up her leg, asking her if it felt weird when he did so. (R. 1:5, A-App. 106.)

Michaela described to Ginsberg a second incident that made her feel uncomfortable. (R. 1:5, A-App. 106.) She was in her bedroom when Coria-Granados came in, picked up her bra, and held it. (R. 1:5, A-App. 106.)

In a third incident, Coria-Granados and Michaela were watching a soccer game at an indoor facility when he told her that he liked to look at girls' butts. (R. 1:5, A-App. 106.) He then slapped and grabbed her butt. (R. 1:5, A-App. 106.) Later, he texted Michaela not to tell her parents what he had done. (R. 1:5, A-App. 106.) Michaela described another time when Coria-Granados slapped and grabbed her butt when she was walking behind him after leaving his house. (R. 1:5, A-App. 106.) She said that when she asked Coria-Granados in a text message why he had done so, he responded that he just wanted to touch it. (R. 1:5, A-App. 106.)

Both girls told Ginsburg that Coria-Granados would give them money and buy them clothes and food. (R. 1:3, 5; A-App. 104, 106) Michaela said that Coria-Granados often offered her alcohol, inviting her over to his house to drink. (R. 1:5, A-App. 106)

Case 2019AP001989 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-11-2020 Page 10 of 47

Evelyn's allegation that Coria-Granados tried to touch her vagina in his home led the State to charge Coria-Granados with attempted first-degree sexual assault of a child between June 1, 2017, and August 31, 2017. (R. 1:1, 3; 30:10; A-App. 102, 104.) And based on Michaela's allegation that Coria-Granados touched her butt outside of his home, the State charged Coria-Granados with fourth-degree sexual assault during the same time period. (R. 1:2, 5; 30:10–11; A-App. 102, 106.)

The State moved to admit other-acts evidence against Coria-Granados. (R. 21.) Specifically, the State sought to admit Evelyn's allegations of Coria-Granados's behavior in Milwaukee, as well as Michaela's allegations that Coria-Granados sent her sexually explicit text messages, talked to her about sex, touched her thigh, picked up her bra, and touched her butt at a soccer game. (R. 21:2–3.) In addition, pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 908.08, the State filed a notice of intent to use Evelyn's audio visually recorded statement from Safe Harbor. (R. 10.)

The court held a hearing on the other-acts motion at which it asked for details regarding Evelyn's Milwaukee allegation. (R. 32:4.) The State explained that Evelyn told investigators that during the trip to Milwaukee, she and Coria-Granados were "in a parking lot by an apartment building that was close to the El Rey" grocery store, and from photographs Evelyn was able to identify that the store was on Cesar Chavez Drive. (R. 32:6.) Evelyn also said that Coria-Granados had taken his wife to a hair salon with "a very Hispanic name" that was "across the street from a church that had a gold baby Jesus on the top of it." (R. 32:6.) Further, Evelyn said that after the assault, she got some "hot Cheetos" from El Rey "and she remembered there being a corn stand outside of the grocery store." (R. 32:8.)

Case 2019AP001989 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-11-2020 Page 11 of 47

The court also asked for more information concerning Michaela's allegation that Coria-Granados touched her butt at a soccer game, asking the State where the game was played. (R. 32:9–10.) The State replied, "[A]t the United Football Association" in Madison. (R. 32:9.) The court asked where that was, remarking that it was "unfamiliar with any soccer field with that name." (R. 32:9.) The State then identified a specific address for the field. (R. 32:10.)

In assessing whether the State had satisfied the test for the admission of other acts, the court recited *Sullivan*'s three-prong test. (R. 32:31, A-App. 111.) It also acknowledged Wisconsin's greater latitude rule on the admission of evidence of other acts in child sexual assault cases. (R. 32:31–32, A-App. 111–12.) The court said that "[r]elevance is not the issue" and "purpose[] is not an issue." (R. 32:37, A-App. 117.) Instead, it said that it concluded that the "prejudice, unfair prejudice, far outweighs the probative value" of the evidence. (R. 32:37, A-App. 117.)

The court characterized the State's submissions as "just more he said/she said" evidence. (R. 32:36, A-App. 116.) It emphasized the lack of "corroboration" in the form of witnesses, text messages, dates, or convictions. (R. 32:32–36, A-App. 112–16.) The court said that the State could not "ask for admission of the evidence when a full and complete investigation has not been done." (R. 32:37, A-App. 117.) The court denied the State's motion in full. (R. 32:38, A-App. 118.)

Days later, the court orally announced its decision on the admissibility of Evelyn's recorded statement. (R. 33, A-App. 119–27.) The court explained that because Evelyn was then 13 years old, "the presumption is that the audiovisual recording does not come in." (R. 33:4, A-App. 122.) It then turned to the factors listed in Wis. Stat. § 908.08(4), which guide a circuit court on when the interests of justice warrant admission of a child's recorded statement. (R. 33:4, A-App. 122.)

Case 2019AP001989 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-11-2020 Page 12 of 47

The court said that the recording showed that Evelyn appeared to be "in fine physical and mental health," and "she was able to clearly and articulately answer questions." (R. 33:4–5, A-App. 122–23.) The court said that it did not find that the recording showed that Evelyn blamed herself for Coria-Granados's conduct. (R. 33:5–6, A-App. 123.) The court said that admitting the recording would not reduce the strain of testifying because "she would have to go over the whole story all over again through cross even if it was put in as her direct." (R. 33:6, A-App. 124.) And because "[c]oming into a courtroom is difficult for everyone," Evelyn's nervousness did not rise to the level required to conclude that the interests of justice warranted admission of the statement. (R. 33:6–7, A-App. 124–25.) The court therefore denied the admission of the statement. (R. 33:7, A-App. 125.)

After the court entered its written order denying the other-acts motion and the request for admission of the recorded statement, the State appealed. (R. 26; 28.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A circuit court's decision to admit or exclude evidence is discretionary. *State v. Pharr*, 115 Wis. 2d 334, 342, 340 N.W.2d 498 (1983). "An appellate court will sustain an evidentiary ruling if it finds that the circuit court examined the relevant facts, applied a proper standard of law, used a demonstrated rational process, and reached a conclusion that a reasonable judge could reach." *State v. Hunt*, 2003 WI 81, ¶ 34, 263 Wis. 2d 1, 666 N.W.2d 771.

But other-acts evidence is relevant only when a court concludes that a reasonable jury could find by a preponderance of the evidence that the defendant committed the other act. *See State v. Gribble*, 2001 WI App 227, ¶ 40, 248 Wis. 2d 409, 636 N.W.2d 488. And this is question of law, which this Court reviews de novo. *Id*.

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion when it denied the State's motion to admit Coria-Granados's other acts.

A. Relevant law.

To determine whether to admit evidence of other acts, "counsel and courts should engage in the three-step analytical framework" outlined in *State v. Sullivan*, 216 Wis. 2d 768, 771–72, 783, 576 N.W.2d 30 (1998). The first step asks whether the party offers the evidence for a permissible purpose under Wis. Stat. § 904.04(2). *Sullivan*, 216 Wis. 2d at 772. Permissible purposes include "proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident." Wis. Stat. § 904.04(2)(a). The next step asks whether the evidence is relevant. *Sullivan*, 216 Wis. 2d at 772. This question has two facets: whether the evidence relates to a fact of consequence and whether the evidence tends to make that fact more probable or less probable than the fact would be without the evidence. *Id*.

To determine whether the evidence relates to a fact of consequence, "the court must focus its attention on the pleadings and contested issues in the case." *State v. Payano*, 2009 WI 86, ¶ 69, 320 Wis. 2d 348, 768 N.W.2d 832. The question of probative value is a common-sense determination. Id. ¶ 70. While similarity of incidents can make evidence more probative, it is not dispositive of the question. Id. Dissimilar events may also be probative of facts of consequence. Id.

"[I]mplicit in a decision that evidence of the other act is relevant is a determination that a jury could reasonably find by a preponderance of the evidence that the defendant committed the other act." *Gribble*, 248 Wis. 2d 409, ¶ 40. This is question of law, which this Court reviews de novo. *Id*.

Case 2019AP001989 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-11-2020 Page 14 of 47

The party seeking the admission of the other-acts evidence has the burden to establish these two prongs by a preponderance of the evidence. *State v. Marinez*, 2011 WI 12, ¶ 19, 331 Wis. 2d 568, 797 N.W.2d 399. But once these prongs are satisfied, the burden then shifts to the opposing party for the third prong of the test. *Id.* This prong asks whether the probative value of the evidence is outweighed by prejudice or confusion to the jury under Wis. Stat. § 904.03. *Id.*

In addition to "this general framework, there also exists in Wisconsin law the longstanding principle that in sexual assault cases, particularly cases that involve sexual assault of a child, courts permit a 'greater latitude of proof as to other like occurrences." *State v. Davidson*, 2000 WI 91, ¶ 36, 236 Wis. 2d 537, 613 N.W.2d 606 (quoted source omitted). This evidentiary rule is now codified in Wis. Stat. § 904.04(2)(b)1. *State v. Dorsey*, 2018 WI 10, ¶¶ 31–33, 379 Wis. 2d 386, 906 N.W.2d 158. The rule applies to each prong of the *Sullivan* analysis. *Marinez*, 331 Wis. 2d 568, ¶ 20.

B. The court erroneously exercised its discretion in denying the State's motion to admit Coria-Granados's other acts.

The circuit court characterized the State's other-acts motion as a request for the admission of "approximately five other acts." (R. 32:32, A-App. 112.) For simplicity's sake, the State agrees with this characterization and refers to these acts in the following shorthand terms:

- 1. "The Milwaukee incident," which is Evelyn's allegation that Coria-Granados squeezed her breast in a car in Milwaukee.
- 2. "The soccer game incident," which is Michaela's allegation that Coria-Granados grabbed her butt at a soccer game after telling her that he liked to look at girls' butts.

Case 2019AP001989 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-11-2020 Page 15 of 47

3. "The bra incident," which is Michaela's allegation that Coria-Granados entered her bedroom, picked up her bra, and held it.

- 4. "The thigh incident," which is Michaela's allegation that—while driving his car—Coria-Granados spoke to her about sex and touched her thigh, asking her if it felt weird.
- 5. "Texting," which is Michaela's allegation that Coria-Granados sent her sexually explicit texts and told her not to tell her parents about his behavior.

The elements of the crimes. It is important to consider the other acts in light of the charges Coria-Granados faces: (1) attempted first-degree sexual assault of a child under the age of 13; and (2) fourth-degree sexual assault. (R. 1:1, A-App. 102.) To prove the former charge, the State must prove that Coria-Granados tried to have sexual contact with Evelyn, who was a person who had not yet turned 13 years old at the time of the crime. (R. 1:1, A-App. 102.) See Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)(e). To prove the latter charge, the State must prove that Coria-Granados had sexual contact with Michaela without her consent. See Wis. Stat. § 940.225(3m). "Sexual contact" means that the contact must be for the purpose of sexually degrading or humiliating the victim or sexually arousing or gratifying the defendant. Wis. Stat. § 948.01(5)(a).

1. The State offered the evidence for a permissible purpose.

The first prong of the *Sullivan* analysis is not difficult to meet. *Marinez*, 331 Wis. 2d 568, ¶ 25. "As long as the State and circuit court have articulated at least *one* permissible purpose for which the other-acts evidence was offered," the test is met. Id. In addition, the greater latitude rule operates to increase the ease with which the State satisfies the first prong of the *Sullivan* test. *See Dorsey* 379 Wis. 2d 386, ¶¶ 32–33.

Case 2019AP001989 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-11-2020 Page 16 of 47

The State sought to admit the other-acts to show Coria-Granados's motive and intent, to prove his identity, to prove a lack of mistake, to establish his plan, to prove the element of sexual gratification, and to corroborate the victims' credibility. (R. 21:3–4, 6–9.) These are all permissible purposes that support the admission of the evidence. *See* Wis. Stat. § 904.04(2). With regard to each specific piece of evidence, the State presented a permissible purpose for its admission. Those reasons are as follows:

The Milwaukee incident. Evelyn alleged that in the summer of 2017, Coria-Granados touched her breast and showed her his penis. (R. 1:2, A-App. 103.) The State offered this evidence to establish that when Coria-Granados's attempted to touch her vagina later that summer, he did not do so accidentally. And that he did so for his own sexual gratification, which shows his motive. See State v. Hurley, 2015 WI 35, ¶ 74, 361 Wis. 2d 529, 861 N.W.2d 174.

The soccer game incident. Michaela alleged that she had been watching a soccer game with Coria-Granados at a facility on Blazing Star Drive in Madison when Coria-Granados told her that he liked to look at girls' butts. (R. 1:5, A-App. 106.) Coria-Granados then touched her butt. (R. 1:5, A-App. 106.) The State offered this evidence to show that when he touched Michaela's butt in the summer of 2017—which is the basis for the fourth-degree sexual assault charge—he did so for the purpose of his sexual gratification, which again shows his motivation. See id. And the State also offered the evidence to show Coria-Granados's absence of mistake or accident in the 2017 incident.

The bra incident. Michaela alleged that after she had surgery, Coria-Granados came over to her home to visit her. (R. 1:5, A-App. 106.) She said that he came into her bedroom. (R. 1:5, A-App. 106.) She explained that she had left her bra out in the open and that Coria-Granados picked it up and held it. (R. 1:5, A-App. 106.) The State offered this incident to prove

Case 2019AP001989 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-11-2020 Page 17 of 47

that Coria-Granados's behavior was sexually motivated. *See id.* It also establishes his absence of mistake in touching or attempting to touch the girls.

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