RECEIVED
07-27-2020
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

v.

Plaintiff-Appellant,

Dane County Case No. 18-CF-1223 Appeal No. 2019AP001989-CR

OMAR S. CORIA-GRANADOS,

Defendant-Respondent.

ON APPEAL OF AN ORDER DENYING THE STATE'S MOTIONS TO ADMIT OTHER ACTS EVIDENCE AND AN AUDIOVISUALLY RECORDED STATEMENT ENTERED IN THE DANE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE ELLEN K. BERZ, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT

JEREMIAH W. MEYER-O'DAY Attorney at Law State Bar #1091114

Martinez & Ruby, LLP 620 8th Avenue Baraboo, WI 53913 (608) 355-2000

Attorneys for Defendant-Respondent

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

Second, the court's concern that the other acts evidence would be unfairly prejudicial to the defense is well-founded, and not just because the vagueness of the evidence of the other acts renders it difficult to impossible for the defense to contradict said allegations. Allegations that Coria-Granados engaged in other acts of sexual contact and inappropriately sexualized communications with minors is strong evidence of bad character which may well improperly influence a jury in its desire to convict a defendant on the basis of bad character rather than on the evidence introduced in the crimes charged. State v. Sullivan, 216 Wis.2d 768, 789-90, 576 N.W.2d 30 (1998) ("Unfair prejudice results when the proffered evidence has a tendency to influence the outcome by improper means or if it appeals to the jury's sympathies, arouses its sense of horror, provokes its instinct to punish or otherwise causes a jury to base its decision on something other than the established propositions in the case.").

In addition, the evidence involves the same two victims on different occasions but over the same general period of time. As a result, the potential for the jury confusing the issues and improperly relying on the other bad acts evidence even with a cautionary instruction by the court is substantial. In this case, as in *Sullivan* itself, "the danger of unfair prejudice [is] that the jurors would be so influenced by the other acts evidence that they would be likely to convict [Coria-Granados] because the other acts evidence showed him to be a bad man." *Sullivan*,

Case 2019AP001989 Respondent Brief Filed 07-27-2020 Page 22 of 33

216 Wis.2d at 790.

The State's argument also fails to come to grips with the court's conclusion that beyond being unfairly prejudicial, the danger that the evidence would confuse the jury as to what exactly it was supposed to be deciding substantially outweighed the minimal probative value of said evidence. A simple perusal of the complaint illustrates this danger vividly; from reading the probable cause section, it is difficult if not impossible to determine exactly which allegation the State intended to support each of the only two charged offenses. (R1: 1-7). Accordingly, admission of the other acts evidence proffered by the State can reasonably be viewed as raising the specter of a trial within a trial, confusing the issues in the eyes of the jury, which is an outcome the application of Wis. Stat. § 904.03 seeks to avoid. See, e.g., State v. Ringer, 2010 WI 69, ¶41, 326 Wis. 2d 351, 785 N.W.2d 448 (reversing trial court order allowing admission of prior allegedly untrue accusations of sexual assault by the alleged victim in part because the proof was so vague as to raise the danger of a trial within a trial, thereby confusing the issues the jury is to decide).

Given the weakness of the proof that the other acts even took place, the danger that the other acts evidence will result in five mini-trials within the trial of the actual action is real and substantial. The fact that the other acts evidence was only weakly supported, lacking in corroboration via either direct or circumstantial evidence, renders the court's conclusion that the probative value of the evidence was low reasonable. See Davidson, 236 Wis. 2d 537, ¶77 (holding that "[t]he high degree of reliability of the evidence of the Cindy P. assault increased its probative value[,]" and implicitly holding that where, as here, the evidence of the other act is unreliable, the probative value of the other act is correspondingly decreased). When balanced against the above-discussed dangers of jury confusion and unfair prejudice, evidence of such low probative value thus fails the test mandated by Wis. Stat. § 904.03, and the circuit court was well within the limits of its discretion to so rule. See McGowan, 291 Wis.2d 212, ¶23 (holding that where, as here, "the probative value of the evidence to prove a legitimate fact of consequence — which is not proof of the defendant's character — should be strong indeed[,]" and finding unfair prejudice required exclusion).

Case 2019AP001989 Respondent Brief Filed 07-27-2020 Page 23 of 33

II. The circuit court's fact-finding was not clearly erroneous, and it properly exercised its discretion when it excluded from evidence the audiovisually recorded statement of Evelyn after application of the balancing test called for by Wis. Stat. § 908.08(4).

A. Standard of Review

Whether a recorded statement of a child between the ages of 12 and 16 is admissible despite not falling within an exception to the rule against hearsay and in the interest of justice under Wis. Stat. § 908.08(4) is a discretionary decision committed to the sound discretion of the circuit court. State v. *Tarantino*, 157 Wis.2d 199, 211, 458 N.W.2d 582 (Ct. App. 1990). The circuit court's findings of fact will not be overturned unless they are clearly erroneous, id., and as with all discretionary decisions, the circuit court's decision must be upheld on appeal, even if this court would have balanced the factors listed in Wis. Stat. § 908.08(4) differently, so long as the circuit court examined the relevant facts of record, applied a correct standard of law, and reached a conclusion a reasonable judge could reach; indeed, this court is required to look for reasons to affirm the circuit court. Wiskerchen, 385 Wis. 2d 120, ¶18.

B. The circuit court applied the correct legal standards to the State's motion to admit Evelyn's audiovisually recorded statement.

The circuit court here began by stating that because Evelyn was 13 years of age at the time of the motion hearing, her audiovisually recorded statement was presumed to be inadmissible. (R33: 4). Contrary to the State's argument, this was a correct statement of the law. Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 908.01(3), hearsay is defined as an out of court statement offered to prove the truth of the matters asserted therein; because the audiovisually recorded statement does not qualify for either of the exemptions to that definition listed in Wis. Stat. § 908.01(4), it is clearly hearsay. Wis. Stat. § 908.02 clearly and succinctly states the general rule: "Hearsay is not admissible except as provided by these rules or by other rules

Case 2019AP001989 Respondent Brief Filed 07-27-2020 Page 24 of 33

adopted by the supreme court or by statute." Finally, Wis. Stat. § 908.08(3) provides in relevant part that "[t]he court . . . shall admit the recording upon finding all of the following: [t]hat the trial or hearing in which the recording is offered will commence . . . before the child's 16th birthday and the interests of justice warrant its admission under sub. (4)." Wis. Stat. §§ 908.08(3)(intro), 908.08(3)(a), and 908.08(3)(a)2.

The State makes extensive arguments regarding the legislature's intentions in enacting this statute, all of which fail to refute the court's legal determination, based on the plain language of the relevant statutes, that the hearsay rule applies and creates a presumption of inadmissibility unless an exception applies; Wis. Stat. § 908.08 is clearly an "exception," and thus involves overcoming the presumption stated in Wis. Stat. § 908.02 of inadmissibility. The State's citation to *State v. Lopez* is unavailing; that case involved a defendant's attempted withdrawal of his pleas, and in discussing Wis. Stat. § 908.08 in that context, the court did so for the purpose of highlighting the prejudice to the State should Lopez have been allowed to withdraw his pleas:

If Lopez were allowed to withdraw her pleas, the State could no longer admit the audiovisual recordings under § 908.08 and, thus, the purpose of the statute would be frustrated. Contrary to the purpose of the law, if Lopez were allowed to withdraw her pleas, A.O.'s "mental and emotional strain" would be maximized rather than minimized.

State v. Lopez, 2014 WI 11, ¶89, 353 Wis.2d 1, 843 N.W.2d 390.

In fact, and fatally to the State's argument that the circuit court applied an incorrect legal standard, *Lopez* rather clearly supports the circuit court's ruling that there is a presumption of inadmissibility absent a finding that admission of the recording would be "in the interests of justice." *See* Wis. Stat. § 908.08(3)(a)2. This is so because the court in *Lopez* clearly presumed inadmissibility of the recorded statement at issue there due to the fact that the recording would at that point, due to the child's having reached her 16th birthday, be presumptively inadmissible. *See Lopez*, 353 Wis.2d 1, ¶81, 88 (noting that the alleged victim would be turning 16 two months after the hearing on Lopez's motion for plea withdrawal, and

Case 2019AP001989 Respondent Brief Filed 07-27-2020 Page 25 of 33

stating that "The plain language of Wis. Stat. § 908.08 should mean something. Section 908.08 makes no room for admission of the recordings once the child turns age 16. If audiovisual recordings could otherwise be deemed admissible and presented to the jury in the same way regardless of age, the limitations and the factors listed in § 908.08(4) would be of little significance.") (emphasis added). The emphasized language clearly means that there is in fact a presumption of inadmissibility attached to a recorded statement of a child between the ages of 12 and 15 which can only be overcome by either a finding that admission would be in the interest of justice after application of the factors listed in Wis. Stat. § 908.08(4) or by a separate finding that the recording satisfies some other hearsay exception or exemption. The State's argument to the contrary fails.

C. The circuit court's findings as to the factors listed in Wis. Stat. § 908.08(4) were not clearly erroneous, and it did not erroneously exercise its discretion in finding that the interest of justice would not be served by admitting Evelyn's recorded statement.

The State argues that the circuit court's factual findings with respect to the factors listed in Wis. Stat. § 908.08(4) were clearly erroneous, specifically challenging the court's findings (1) that Evelyn did not blame herself for Coria-Granados's conduct and (2) that admitting the recording would not reduce the strain of testifying for Evelyn. (State's Br. at 28-29). The State, before developing its argument, then argues further, and erroneously, that due to the existence of the recording in the record, this court reviews the circuit court's exercise of discretion de novo, citing State v. Jimmie R.R. for that proposition; this is false, as *Jimmie R.R.* was concerned only with review of the circuit court's factual findings, not its ultimate exercise of discretion. State v. Jimmie R.R., 2000 WI App 5, ¶39, 232 Wis.2d 138, 606 N.W.2d 196 (addressing only the question whether a child understood that false statements are punishable, as is required by Wis. Stat. § 908.08(3)(c), and ruling that videorecording in the record allows appellate court to review factual findings regarding the videorecording de novo).

Case 2019AP001989 Respondent Brief Filed 07-27-2020 Page 26 of 33

As to whether Evelyn blamed herself for Coria-Granados's conduct, the State's argument relies upon record citations that, far from demonstrating that the circuit court was in error when it found that Evelyn did not blame herself for Coria-Granados's conduct, clearly indicate that she laid blame with him, where it belongs. For example, the State notes that when asked why she was at Safe Harbor being interviewed, Evelyn stated that, in the State's words, "she was there to talk about someone who had done something that he was not supposed to do." (R35: 9:53). Further, she identified Coria-Granados as that "someone." (R35: 9:55-9:56). Clearly, Evelyn blamed Coria-Granados for what happened to her, and nothing else about her Safe Harbor interview suggests otherwise. The other examples cited by the State in support of its argument merely demonstrate further that Evelyn remained angry with Coria-Granados regarding what she alleged he had done to her.

Before continuing, it is necessary to repeat the entirety of the State's findings regarding each of the Wis. Stat. § 908.08(4) factors as well as its ultimate ruling, as the State only selectively cites them in its brief. The circuit court properly addressed and found facts as to each factor before making its ruling:

First, the child's chronological age is 13, so she is between ages 12 and 16, which means that the presumption is that the audiovisual recording does not come in. The Court must find that it is in the interest of justice to let it in.

- B, the child's general physical and mental health. I have reviewed, again, the recording and she looks to be in fine physical and mental health.
- C. Yes, the events about which the child is talking do constitute criminal conduct against the child.
- D, the child's custodial situation. That is with her parents, not with the defendant.
- E, the familial or emotional relationship. The defendant, according to the child, was a close friend of the family and she had known him, wow, for a very long time. I'm not sure if it was her entire life or short of that, but it was a long time.

Case 2019AP001989 Respondent Brief Filed 07-27-2020 Page 27 of 33

F, the child's behavior at a reaction to previous interviews. Again, I saw the Safe Harbor tape. It is, you know, clear that the child is affected, but she was able to clearly and articulately answer questions. She seems like a very bright child, quite frankly.

G, whether the child blames herself for the events involved or has ever been told by any person not to disclose them.

I believe, Ms. LaSpisa, you can correct me on this, but I believe she indicated she was told by the defendant not to disclose. Am I right on that?

MS. LaSPISA: I believe so, but I have -- I haven't watched the video since I've been on vacation, so I do apologize. And I would just note, in your last statement regarding the Safe Harbor and being able to testify, that was in a developmentally sound child-friendly environment, which is different than the courtroom.

THE COURT: Of course.

All right. I did not see the child blaming herself for the defendant's conduct.

H, whether the child manifests symptoms associated with post-traumatic stress disorder or other mental disorders. I've not been provided, I believe -- the State's motion indicates that the child has been having nightmares, mood changes, problem concentrating.

And I, whether the admission of the recording would reduce the mental or emotional strain of testifying or reduce the number of times the child will be required to testify. It would just be one time testifying. It would not reduce the number of times because she would be brought in for cross-examination and she would have to go over the whole story all over again through cross even if it was put in as her direct. So I don't, quite frankly, see that it would reduce any strain.

Again, when I viewed this video, I was actually taken by her ability to compose herself, her ability to articulate what happened, her ability to understand that it was not her fault. Coming into a courtroom is difficult for everyone, be they adults or children. It is a nerve-racking sort of situation, but I don't think that her nervousness rises to the level of interests of justice, so I am going to deny the State's motion.

Case 2019AP001989 Respondent Brief Filed 07-27-2020 Page 28 of 33

(R33: 4-7). The State, despite quibbling with virtually all aspects of the circuit court's fact-finding, does not allege that any of the court's findings other than its findings that Evelyn did not blame herself for Coria-Granados's conduct and that admission of the recording would not significantly reduce the strain of testifying were clearly erroneous. Accordingly, the State has conceded that the circuit court's factual finding with respect to the factors listed in Wis. Stat. §§ 908.08(4)(a) to (f) and (h) was not clearly erroneous. See A.O. Smith Corp. v. Allstate Ins. Companies, 222 Wis. 2d 475, 491-92, 588 N.W.2d 285 (Ct. App. 1998) (stating that "an issue raised in the trial court, but not raised on appeal, is deemed abandoned[,]" and further stating that "a party does not adequately raise an issue when it does not raise that issue in the brief-in-chief."); see also State v. Pettit, 171 Wis. 2d 627, 646, 492 Wis.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992).

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